UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-1-2011

A & B Irr. Dist. v. Idaho Dept. of Water Resources Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38403

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal of the *Final Order Regarding the A&B Irrigation District Delivery Call* (*"Final Order"*), R. 3318, issued by the Director of the Idaho Department of Water Resources ("Department" or "IDWR") on June 30, 2009.

II. Course of Proceedings

The A&B Irrigation District ("A&B" or "District") filed a water right delivery call in 1994 to prevent injury to its senior ground water right 36-2080 (September 9, 1948 priority). R. 12-14. Shortly after A&B filed its call, the District worked with junior water users to reach an informal resolution. R. 641. The parties entered into a stipulation as an "interim solution" to A&B's water supply concerns. *Id.* at 642. According to the stipulation, IDWR would be required to "adopt and implement an active enforcement plan" to prevent excessive and unauthorized diversions from the aquifer. *Id.* at 642-43. The agreement further required IDWR to measure "all ground water diversions in the ESPA." *Id.* at 643. The Director adopted the parties' stipulation in a *Pre-Hearing Conference Order* dated May 1, 1995 ("*Stay Order*") and the case was stayed. *Id.* at 669. However, the *Stay Order* provided that any "party may file a Motion to Proceed at any time to request the stay be lifted." *Id.* at 676.

From 1995 to 2007, aquifer levels continued to decline across the Eastern Snake Plain Aquifer ("ESPA") and A&B was still unable to divert and beneficially use the full quantity of its water right. R. 834-35. IDWR also failed to take all of the actions required by the *Stay Order*. R. 833-34. Accordingly, A&B filed a *Motion to Proceed* with the call on March 16, 2007. R.

A&B IRRIGATION DISTRICT'S OPENING BRIEF ON APPEAL

830. Despite A&B's request, and the express terms of the *Stay Order*, the Director again refused to act on A&B's call – forcing A&B to seek relief in district court. On October 23, 2007, the Honorable John K. Butler issued a writ of mandate ordering the Director to respond to A&B's delivery call.¹ R. 1106. The Director then requested information from A&B,² and a month later denied A&B's call by an initial order. A&B challenged the Director's decision, and a contested case followed with former Chief Justice Gerald F. Schroeder presiding as the Hearing Officer.

A&B filed a motion for declaratory ruling challenging the applicability of the Ground Water Act to its 1948 senior water right. R. 1451. The Hearing Officer denied A&B's motion, R. 1630, and the case proceeded to an administrative hearing. On March 27, 2009, the Hearing Officer issued a recommended order.³ R. 3078. The Director then issued a *Final Order* on June 30, 2009.⁴ R. 3318.

A&B appealed the *Final Order* to the Minidoka County District Court. Clerk's R. at 143. On May 4, 2010, the Honorable Eric J. Wildman issued a *Memorandum Decision and Order on Petition for Judicial Review. Id.* at 45. In that decision, the District Court affirmed the Director's application of the 1951 Ground Water Act to A&B's 1948 water right. *Id.* at 93. Next, the Court affirmed the Director's decision that A&B had not been required to exceed a

¹ The agency has a demonstrated history of failing to properly respond to water right delivery calls on the ESPA as A&B's case was not the first time a senior water user was forced to file a mandamus action in district court regarding water right administration. *See Musser v. Higginson*, 125 Idaho 392 (1994).

² In his November 16, 2007 *Order Requesting Information*, the Director requested 18 different types of information from A&B, including "average monthly deliveries per headgate since 1959," "average monthly pumping rates since 1959 for each well," and "specific types of crops planted and acreage planted for each crop type since 1959." R. 964-65. A&B provided the available information within 30 days. R. 1030.

³ The Hearing Officer also issued an order granting in part and denying in part A&B's petition for reconsideration as well as a response to A&B's petition for clarification. R. 3231, 3262.

⁴ A&B's request for reconsideration of the *Final Order* was denied. R. 3360.

reasonable pumping level. *Id.* In addition, the Court found that an evaluation of material injury to A&B's water right should be based on depletion to the cumulative quantity of the water right, rather than depletions to individual wells or points of diversion. *Id.* at 94. Finally, the District Court held the Director erred by failing to apply the evidentiary standard of clear and convincing evidence in conjunction with the finding that A&B's decreed diversion rate exceeds the quantity of water being put to beneficial use for purposes of determining material injury.⁵ *Id.* at 93.

A&B, IGWA, and the City of Pocatello appealed the District Court's decision. Clerk's R. at 143, 147 & 152. IDWR and the Interim Director filed a notice of appeal, *id.* at 138, however, they withdrew their appeal later.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. The A&B Irrigation Project and Water Right 36-2080

The North Side Pumping Division of the Minidoka Project was initiated, designed, and constructed by the United States Bureau of Reclamation ("Reclamation") to develop irrigable land in Jerome and Minidoka Counties in the early 1950's and 60's. R. 1111. Reclamation completed the project in 1963.⁶ *See* Ex. 200 at 2-2 to 2-3. The project consists of two units, Unit A that serves approximately 15,000 acres with surface water from the Snake River, and Unit B

⁵ The District Court remanded the case to the Director to re-evaluate A&B's call and apply the appropriate burden of proof and evidentiary standards in analyzing material injury to A&B's senior ground water right. Clerk's R. at 93. The Director, however, failed to act on the District Court's order – forcing A&B to, *again*, go back to court for relief. In an *Order Granting Motion to Enforce in Part & Denying Motion to Enforce in Part*, the District Court held that the Director erred in not timely addressing the remand issues by applying the appropriate burden of proof and ordered the Director to "forthwith comply with this Court's *Order of Remand*." The Director issued his *Final Order on Remand Regarding A&B Irrigation District's Delivery Call*, on April 27, 2011.

that serves approximately 66,000 acres with ground water from the ESPA.⁷ R. 1111-12.

Reclamation transferred operation and maintenance of the project to the A&B Irrigation District in 1966. R. 3080.

A&B is the beneficial owner of water right 36-2080.⁸ The water right authorizes the diversion of 1,100 cfs from 188 separate points of diversion, or wells, with a priority date of September 9, 1948. R. 3081. Currently, A&B has 177 active production wells. *Id.* The SRBA Court decreed water right 36-2080 on May 7, 2003. Ex. 139.

A&B's groundwater unit is not a single distribution system like a typical large scale irrigation project in Idaho. A&B diverts groundwater from individual wells which comprise over 130 <u>separate</u> "well systems." Tr. Vol. III, p. 467, lns. 3-7, p. 475, lns. 2-9.⁹ Water pumped from individual wells can only be delivered to <u>specific</u> acres on the project.¹⁰ At hearing, A&B's manager Dan Temple described the project's well systems as follows:

... A well system is an independent delivery system that stands by itself, that consists of a well and pump or pumps, a couple wells, a couple pumps, and a conveyance system to land that the District – that under the Bureau of Reclamation, that had an entitlement to from that well system. They defined the land in the development that was going to receive water from that well system. It's independent of other well systems.

⁷ A&B's decreed water right 36-2080 provides water to 62,604.3 acres. R. 1112. A&B also appropriated other beneficial use and enlargement ground water rights to irrigate an additional 4,000 acres in Unit B. *Id.* This case only concerns A&B's senior ground water right 36-2080.

 ⁸ Water right 36-2080 is held in trust by the United States, for the benefit of A&B's landowners. United States v. Pioneer Irr. Dist., 144 Idaho 106 (2007).
⁹ A "well system" is comprised of one or more wells providing water to a specific distribution system serving a

⁹ A "well system" is comprised of one or more wells providing water to a specific distribution system serving a specific number of acres. *Id.* p. 474-75; *see* Ex. 200 at 4-32 (a table of A&B's separate well systems and the acreage served by each system). For the Court's convenience, a copy of Exhibit 200 page 4-32 is attached hereto.

¹⁰ Not all wells in a "well system" can provide water to each acre served by that individual system. Tr. Vol. III, p. 475, lns. 10-16, p. 477 ln. 22 – p. 478, ln. 4 (emphasis added) (*see also* pp. 476-77, an explanation of an "interconnected" system provided at Ex. 238).

Tr. Vol. III, p. 473, ln. 14 – p. 474, ln. 3.

A&B measures water at each well and delivers it upon demand to its landowners during the irrigation season. *Id.*, pp. 469-70, 514. A&B compiles annual reports to detail a well's performance, including the diversion rate per acre and the total acre-feet pumped and delivered. Ex. 133 (Example Report: 2007 found at A&B 2782-98).¹¹

A&B maintains the pumps and motors on its individual well systems on an annual basis and has instituted a "rectification" program for wells that experience reduced water production. Tr. Vol. III, pp. 490-92, 550-58. As part of its "rectification" program, A&B deepens wells, rebuilds pumps, replaces pump bowls, and adds horsepower. *Id.* at 556-58. A&B has also drilled new wells and added new points of diversion as part of this program. *Id.* at 559.

Separate from improving its points of diversion (wells), A&B has also improved its water delivery system over time by piping laterals, eliminating drain wells, and connecting landowners' irrigation systems directly to the wells. Ex. 200 at 2-6; Tr. Vol. III, p. 489. A majority of the project is now irrigated by sprinkler irrigation. R. 3098-99 (only 3-4% of the project is irrigated by gravity flow). Pipelines have replaced open ditches – "eliminating ditch loss and evaporation" – laterals and drains have been removed, and injection wells have been eliminated. *Id.* As a result of these efforts, A&B is a highly efficient irrigation project, as the Hearing Officer found "conveyance losses to the farm turnouts were estimated to be between zero and five percent. Three percent is a proper figure to use." R. 3088.

A&B IRRIGATION DISTRICT'S OPENING BRIEF ON APPEAL

¹¹ The Annual Pump Reports found at Exhibit 133 were bate-stamped for IDWR's record as "A&B ____".

II. A Depleting Ground Water Supply and the A&B Delivery Call.

From the early 1960s to 1995, IDWR issued over 30,000 new ground water rights throughout the ESPA. Ex. 200 at 5-17 (Figure 5-2). This dramatic increase in ground water diversions impacted A&B's ability to divert water under its senior right. Pumping levels dropped by as much as 46.4 feet. R. 3087. Reduced ground water levels impacted A&B's production capacities and forced the abandonment of some wells. R. 835, 3090. By early 1994, A&B had experienced significant ground water declines – leaving many landowners without a full irrigation supply. R. 12-14.

In light of the impacts to its senior water right, A&B filed a *Petition for Delivery Call* on July 27, 1994, seeking the administration of junior priority ground water rights. R. 12-14. A&B also asked the Director to designate the ESPA as a Ground Water Management Area pursuant to Idaho Code § 42-233b. *Id.*

Shortly after the *Petition* was filed, the parties stipulated to hold the contested case "in abeyance for a time." R. 670. Pursuant to the stipulation adopted by the Director, IDWR was obligated to "develop a plan for management of the ESPA which will provide for active enforcement of diversion and use of water pursuant to established water rights." R. 676.

Notwithstanding the terms of the *Stay Order*, IDWR did not "develop a plan for management of the ESPA." Instead, diversions under junior priority ground water rights continued to deplete the ESPA and aquifer levels continued to fall.¹² Specifically, ground water

¹² The Department has determined that the ESPA is an area of common ground water supply. IDAPA 37.03.11.050 (CM Rule 50). Therefore, depletions by junior ground water right within the ESPA are hydraulically connected to and impact A&B's water supply under its senior water right 36-2080.

levels within A&B dropped another 12 feet on average from 1999 to 2006, which followed an average 22 feet decline from 1987, and a 25 to 50 feet average decline since the 1960's. R. 836.¹³

Consequently, A&B filed a *Motion to Proceed* with the delivery call on March 16, 2007. R. 830. A&B requested IDWR to lift the stay and proceed with administration of junior priority ground water rights. The *Motion* identified the continued impact that a depleted water supply was having on A&B and its landowners, including: (i) investing in infrastructure to convert 96.5% of A&B's lands to sprinkler irrigation; (ii) upgrading of pumps and piping distribution systems; (iii) increasing motor sizes to lift ground water from deeper levels; (iv) spending hundreds of thousands of dollars for well rectification; (vi) drilling at least 8 new wells; (vii) deepening at least 47 wells; (viii) replacing bowls on 109 pumps; and (ix) abandoning 7 wells. R. 834-35. A&B was even forced to convert some of its lands to a new surface water supply. R. 838 ("To the extent conversion to surface water has been possible, it has been done.").

Notwithstanding these efforts to improve its delivery system and wells throughout the project, A&B continued to suffer impacts to its ground water supply:

a. ... [S]ince 1994 the total water supply from the A&B wells has declined to 970 cfs. Many of the wells that have been drilled deeper, some to depths of 800 feet, because of the low transmissivity and low well yields deeper in the aquifer, do not produce additional water. *All of these issues cause A&B to suffer water supply shortages during peak demand periods.*

R. 835-36 (emphasis added).

¹³ This continued decline in aquifer levels at A&B followed a similar trend in water levels throughout the ESPA. Ex. 200 at 5-23 to 5-31.

Although A&B was able to pump approximately 225,000 acre-feet per year in the 1960's, its diversions dropped to as low as 150,000 acre-feet during the 2000's. *Id.* Importantly, "A&B has no other source or supply of water to replace its lost ground water supply needed to irrigate Unit B land." R. 838.

Despite A&B's *Motion* and request for administration, the Director refused to act – forcing A&B to seek and obtain a writ of mandate from the Minidoka County District Court. R. 1106. Following the Court's writ of mandate, the Director finally issued an initial order on January 29, 2008, denying A&B's call and request for a GWMA designation. R. 1105. In that *Order*, the Director erroneously concluded that A&B had not suffered material injury for various reasons, including wrongly assuming that A&B's physical delivery capacity was limited to 0.75 miner's inches per acre, that A&B's well drilling techniques were inappropriate, and that the project's wells were not properly sited by Reclamation when the project was initially designed and constructed in the 1950's and 1960's.¹⁴ R. 1147-49. Importantly, the Director applied the wrong legal standard and determined that despite its decreed water right, A&B, the senior water right holder, carried the burden of proof to establish "material injury" by "prima facie evidence". *Id.* 1147.

A&B challenged this decision and requested an administrative hearing. R. 1182. A formal hearing was held and the Hearing Officer issued a recommended order, an order on reconsideration, and a clarification order. R. 3078, 3231, 3262. A&B filed exceptions to the recommended order, R. 3284, and the Director issued his *Final Order* on June 30, 2009. R.

¹⁴ The Hearing Officer's findings on these points demonstrated the errors made by the Director in the initial order. R. 3091, 3097-98; *see also* R. 3312-13.

3318. A&B requested and was denied reconsideration of the *Final Order*, and this appeal followed.

ISSUES PRESENTED

A&B presents the following issues on appeal:

A. Whether the Director erred in concluding that A&B's 1948 water right is subject to the provisions of the 1951 Idaho Ground Water Act (Idaho Code §§ 42-226 *et seq.*) and the 1953 amendment, even though the statute provides that "This act shall not effect the rights to the use of ground water in this state acquired before its enactment"?

B. Whether the Director erred in finding that A&B has not been required to pump water beyond a "reasonable ground water pumping level" even though the Director failed to identify a specific pumping level as required by Idaho Code § 42-226?

C. Whether the Director erred in failing to analyze water availability at the 177 individual wells or points of diversion for purposes of an injury analysis to A&B's senior water right?

D. Whether the Director unconstitutionally applied the CM Rules by finding that A&B must interconnect individual wells or well systems across the project before a delivery call can be filed even though water right 36-2080 was developed, licensed and decreed with 177 individual wells?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Any party "aggrieved by a final order in a contested case decided by an agency may file a petition for judicial review in the district court." *Sagewillow, Inc. v. IDWR*, 138 Idaho 831, 835 (2003). The Court reviews the matter "based on the record created before the agency." *Chisholm v. IDWR*, 142 Idaho 159, 162 (2005). Generally, a Court is charged with deferring to an agency's decision. *Mercy Medical Center v. Ada County*, 146 Idaho 220, 226 (2008). The Court, however, is "free to correct errors of law." *Id.*

An agency's decision must be overturned if it (a) violates "constitutional or statutory provisions," (b) "exceeds the agency's statutory authority," (c) "was made upon unlawful procedure, " (d) "is not supported by substantial evidence in the record as a whole" or (e) is "arbitrary, capricious or an abuse of discretion." *Chisholm*, 142 Idaho at 162 (citing Idaho Code § 67-5279(3)).

An agency's decision must be supported by "substantial evidence." *Chisholm, supra* at 164 ("Substantial evidence ... need only be of such sufficient quantity and probative value that reasonable minds could reach the same conclusions as the fact finder"); *Mercy Medical Center, supra* (agency decision must be "supported by substantial and competent evidence"). The "reviewing courts should evaluate whether 'the evidence supporting [the agency's] decision is substantial." *Idaho State Ins. Fund v. Hunnicutt*, 110 Idaho 257, 261 (1985). This Court is not required to defer to an agency's decision that is not supported by the record. *Evans v. Board of Comm. of Cassia Cty.*, 137 Idaho 428, 431 (2002).

An agency action is "capricious" if it "was done without a rational basis." *American Lung Assoc. of Idaho/Nevada v. Dept. of Ag.*, 142 Idaho 544, 547 (2006). It is "arbitrary if it was done in disregard of the facts and circumstances presented or without adequate determining principles." *Id.*

Although the Court grants the Director discretion in his decision making, *supra*, the Director cannot use this discretion as a shield to hide behind a decision that is not supported by the law or facts. Such agency decisions are "clearly erroneous" and must be reversed. *See Galli v. Idaho County*, 146 Idaho 155, 159 (2008) ("A decision is clearly erroneous when it is not supported by substantial and competent evidence").

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A&B holds a 1948 ground water right. Idaho law provides certain protections for ground water rights that pre-date the 1951 Ground Water Act. The District Court and Director misinterpreted the Ground Water Act and disregarded this Court's precedent by concluding that the Act, and its "reasonable ground water pumping level" provision, applies retroactively to A&B's water right. The Director's failure to properly administer A&B's senior water right in compliance with controlling Idaho law is erroneous and should be set aside.

Notwithstanding this error of law, and assuming, *arguendo*, that the Ground Water Act does apply to A&B's 1948 ground water right, the Director erred in finding that A&B has not exceeded a "reasonable pumping level." The Director's finding results in an obvious "Catch-22" – whereby, the Director decides that A&B's right is subject to the Ground Water Act yet simultaneously refuses to apply the Act and protect A&B's senior right to a "reasonable

11

groundwater pumping level." The Director did not identify a <u>single fact</u> to support his decision on this issue. The failure to identify an objective standard is arbitrary and capricious and therefore should also be set aside.

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