# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-25-2011

# A & B Irrigation District v. Idaho Dept of Water Resources Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38403

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

#### 2. A&B's Reasonable Pumping Levels Have Not Been Exceeded

A&B argues that the Director erred by failing to set a reasonable pumping level, arguing the Director is required to set a reasonable pumping level any time a delivery call is filed. A&B ignores the plain meaning of the law governing ground water administration and the substantial evidence that supports the findings of facts in the Final Order.

### A. The Establishment of Reasonable Pumping Levels is Left to the Discretion of the Director

Citing Idaho Code § 42-226, A&B asserts it is "entitled to the protection of an identified 'reasonable ground water pumping level.' I.C. § 42-226." *Opening Brief* at 28 (emphasis added). "[T]he Director does not have the discretion to not set a pumping level when administration is requested by a senior water right holder." *Id.* at 29. However, neither Idaho Code § 42-226 nor Idaho Code § 42-237a.g., which are permissive statutes, state that a reasonable pumping level must be "identified" by the Director, or that A&B is "entitled" to the setting of a reasonable pumping level by virtue of its delivery call. As the district court correctly held, "the [Act] does not mandate that the Director establish ground water levels as a matter of course in conjunction with a delivery call by a ground water pumper." Clerk's R. at 67.

Notwithstanding the plain wording of Idaho Code §§ 42-226 and 42-237a.g., A&B attempts to create conflict by directing the Court's attention to Idaho Const. Art. XV, § 3. Article XV, § 3 states, "Priority of appropriation shall give the better right as between those using the water." A&B ignores the purpose of the Ground Water Act, as described in Idaho Code § 42-226, and the fact that *Baker* and *Clear Springs* held that the Act applies between ground water users. Clearly, there is no conflict between the Act and the Constitution.

A&B also argues that the Director's mandatory duty to administer water rights under Idaho Code § 42-607 conflicts with the permissive nature of the Act. Certainly, the Director must administer water rights, but the Director is not mandated to curtail junior ground water users simply by virtue of a conjunctive management delivery call. In this case, the Director undertook his mandatory administrative duty by responding to A&B's delivery call, analyzing the evidence, and finding, based on the evidence presented, that A&B was not materially injured. While A&B

disagrees with the Director's finding of no material injury, it cannot be argued that the Director shirked his administrative duties.

# B. The Average Annual Rate of Future Natural Recharge for the ESPA Exceeds Withdrawals by Ground Water Pumping

In the January 2008 Final Order, the Director found as follows: "There is no indication that ground water levels in the ESPA exceed reasonable ground water pumping levels required to be protected under the provisions of Idaho Code s 42-226." R. at 1109. A&B argues this particular finding is not supported by the record because there was no disclosure of "the actual depth of the reasonable pumping level of the ESPA . . . ." *Opening Brief* at 25. As explained above, there is no basis in law to support A&B's position that the Director must identify a reasonable pumping level depth as a matter of course when a delivery call is filed by a senior ground water user.

The facts in the record, which A&B ignores, and controlling law, which A&B fails to cite, unequivocally support the Director's decision. Idaho Code § 42-237a.g states that the Director may establish a reasonable ground water pumping level if ground water is pumped "at a rate beyond the reasonably anticipated average rate of future natural recharge." *See* CM Rule 10.19 (defining "Reasonably Anticipated Average Rate of Future Natural Recharge"). If withdrawals from an aquifer by ground water pumping outpace natural recharge, the result is mining. "Idaho's Ground Water Act forbids 'mining' of an aquifer." *Baker* at 583, 513 P.2d at 635.

The uncontradicted facts in this record establish that the average annual rate of natural recharge for the ESPA is "approximately 7.5 million acre-feet . . . ." R. at 1107. The average annual rate of withdrawal from the ESPA by ground water pumping is "nearly 2.0 million acre-feet . . . ." *Id*. Therefore, the average annual rate of natural recharge for the ESPA greatly outpaces average annual withdrawals by ground water pumping. The hearing officer and district court

agreed. R. at 3113; Clerk's R. at 51. Because the ESPA is not being mined, the Director properly exercised his discretion in concluding that reasonable pumping levels were not exceeded.

# C. Based on its Inherent Hydrogeologic Environment, A&B has not Exceeded its Reasonable Pumping Level

On appeal, A&B uses aquifer decline to support its argument that the Director erred by not establishing a reasonable pumping level. A&B fails to acknowledge that aquifer levels are still in excess of pre-irrigation development levels, R. at 1109; that ESPA declines are primarily due to climate, then conversion from gravity to sprinkler irrigation, then pumping. Ex. 121 at 5 (A&B 1076); and that significantly more water enters the ESPA on an annual basis than is withdrawn by pumping, R. at 1107. More importantly, A&B fails to acknowledge, let alone address, how its inherent hydrogeologic setting impacts pumping and water levels. The importance of understanding the hydrogeologic environment, which is supported by substantial evidence, cannot be overstated in the Director's determination that reasonable pumping levels have not been exceeded. As described below, the inherent hydrogeologic environment is the biggest impediment in the A&B project.

The fact that the hydrogeologic setting of A&B is varied was known at the time of its development, R. at 1127-29 (discussing published reports from 1948 and 1956 that detail the area's hydrogeology), and was understood by the hearing officer, R. at 3089-92. The A&B project is "located in a <u>transition zone</u> where the subsurface consists mostly of basalt to the north and northwest and mostly sediment to the south and southeast." Ex. 121 at 6 (A&B 1077) (emphasis added). Importantly, "The geologic formations in the area <u>differ markedly</u> in their water bearing properties. The materials range from highly permeable to nearly impermeable. Permeability

Figure 2a to Exhibit 121 is a "Geologic Map" that shows the transition between sediments (south) and basalts (north). Figures 2b and 2c provide explanations of the "Geologic Units" in Figure 2a. Figures 3 and 4 show the respective "Thickness of Quaternary Basalt" and "Thickness of Sedimentary Rocks."

wells." R. at 1128 (emphasis added). According to a 1956 USBR report: "In Minidoka County and most other parts of the Snake River Plain the Snake River basalt is the principal water-bearing formation and it yields water copiously to wells. <u>Inter-tongued sedimentary beds are saturated below the water table but yield little or no water to wells</u>." *Id.* (emphasis added).

The hydrogeologic setting is depicted in Exhibit 121, Figures 1, 2a, 2b, 2c, 3, and 4. *Id.* at 22-27 (A&B 1093-98). Water-bearing basalts with thin or discontinuous sedimentary interbeds are predominantly located in the northern two-thirds of the project, Townships 7 and 8. Tr. Vol. I, p. 80, lns. 10-13. *See* Exhibit 215 (map of the area with Township and Range coordinates). Thick sedimentary interbeds with little water bearing basalt are predominantly located in the southern third of the project, Township 9. *See* Ex. 121, Figures 2a, 2b, 2c, 3, and 4; Ex. 215. As understood by the USBR: "Nearly all the area beneath the North Side Pumping Division Unit B is made up of basalt with few to minor amounts of sediment. The subsurface beneath tract 4 is composed of basalt innerbedded [sic] with substantial amounts of mostly fine grain sediment." R. at 1129 (emphasis added). Tract 4 is located in the southern third of the project. *Id*.

A more specific, visual understanding of the subsurface in and around the A&B project may be gained by examining Exhibit 106. Exhibit 106 is a depiction of "Geologic Cross-Sections" that were prepared by the Department. Cross-section A-A' through E-E' plots wells from west to east. Ex. 106 at 1-6 (A&B 83-88). The closer the plot is to the southern boundary of the A&B project (historic Lake Burley), the more sedimentary layers are present in the well. *See* B-B' at 3 (A&B 85). As the plot moves northward, sediments are replaced by basalt. *See* E-E' at 6 (A&B 88). A review of the south to north plot shows that the sedimentary environment is more pronounced in the south and west, but less so in the north and east. *See* F-F' through L-L' at 7-14 (A&B 89-96).

Not surprisingly, well yield is directly tied to the inherent hydrogeologic environment in which the well is sited. As discussed by Dr. Dale R. Ralston, former professor of hydrogeology at the University of Idaho, <sup>12</sup> and Sean D. Vincent, the Department's hydrology section manager, well yield is greatly influenced by "specific capacity." Tr. Vol. I, p. 80, lns. 4-21; Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1733, lns. 4-25; p. 1734, lns. 1-5. Higher specific capacity values are an indicator of higher well yield. Using Exhibit 113D, it was explained that higher specific capacity values are generally located in the eastern two-thirds of the project, whereas the southwestern area generally has lower specific capacity. Tr. Vol. I, p. 95, ln. 25; p. 96, lns. 1-22; Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1733, lns. 10-25; p. 1734, lns. 1-5. For Dr. Ralston, the high specific capacity values in the main pumping center of the project (Township 8) is "consistent with geology, because . . . when you get down here (indicating [to the southwest]) as we said numerous times, there is a lot more lake [sediment] there. And so it's consistent with their history of pumpage, because two-thirds of the pumpage come[s] from wells in these . . . townships. And these are, obviously, the higher producing areas." Tr. Vol. I, 97, lns. 1-8 (emphasis added).

Similar to specific capacity, hydraulic gradient can be used to understand aquifer transmissivity and well yield. Figure 14 from the January 2008 Final Order is a 1952 water table contour map that was prepared for the USBR. R. at 1129; Ex. 113D (A&B 729A). In the eastern two-thirds of the project, the water table is higher and the contour lines are spread out. Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1740, lns. 18-25; p. 1741, lns. 1-25; p. 1742, lns. 1-8. In the southwest, depth to water is

District Area." Ex. 121. The objectives of the report were: "1) develop a hydrogeologic conceptual model of . . . the general vicinity of the A&B Irrigation District with an emphasis on the presence of low hydraulic conductivity sedimentary strata interbedded with the basalt of the aquifer, 2) analyze the significance of [the] hydrogeologic conceptual model with respect to the ability of the A&B Irrigation District wells to obtain water from the aquifer, and 3) evaluate the impacts on A&B Irrigation District production wells from declining ground-water levels in the aquifer." *Id.* at 4 (A&B 1075). Dr. Ralston's *Curriculum Vitae* may be found at Exhibit 156.

greater and the contour lines are closely spaced. *Id*. The contour map shows that transmissivity in the southwest is lower because of the steeper hydraulic gradient. *Id*.

Steeper hydraulic gradient leads to decreased transmissivity, which directly impacts specific capacity and results in reduced yields. Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1742, lns. 9-25; p. 1743, lns. 1-7. Because drawdown is "inversely proportional to transmissivity," Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1743, lns. 16-17, steeper cones of depression develop in low transmissivity environments, which results in greater well interference. Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1742, lns. 9-25; p. 1743, lns. 1-25; p. 1744, lns. 1-25; p. 1746, lns. 1-14. These factors are not experienced to the same degree in the rest of the project (pumping in Township 8 accounts for approximately 67% of total discharge). Tr. Vol. I, p. 80, lns. 22-25; p. 81, lns. 1-12.

Because of the varied hydrogeologic environment, Dr. Ralston stated that the likelihood of obtaining additional yield is "low" in the southwest, but is "high" throughout the rest of the project. Ex. 121 at 18 (A&B 1089); Tr. Vol. I, p. 89, lns. 15-25; p. 90, lns. 1-25; p. 91, ln. 1. However, even though the probability of obtaining additional yield is low in the southwest, Dr. Ralston stated during cross-examination by counsel for A&B that water is available in the southwest, just not at A&B's desired yield under its historic system. Tr. Vol. I, p. 133, lns. 9-25; p. 134, lns. 15-24 ("it isn't a question of not being able to get the water, because you can get the water."). See CM Rule 42.01.a ("amount of water available in the source . . . .")

# D. The Inherent Hydrogeologic Environment in the Southwest Explains A&B's Problem Wells

In its Opening Brief, A&B attempts to refute the Director's finding that reasonable pumping levels have not been exceeded by pointing to the presence of "abandoned" wells and wells that have been drilled in excess of "800 feet." *Opening Brief* at 26. The inherent

hydrogeologic environment of the southwest, which A&B ignores, and is supported by substantial evidence, explains these wells. As recognized by the hearing officer: "Protection of A&B's water right cannot be based on its poorest performing wells." R. at 3113.

#### i. A&B's Abandoned Wells

According to A&B's 2007 Motion to Proceed, "7 wells have been abandoned because they no longer provide adequate water." R. at 1131. These wells are located on Exhibit 215A with green dots. As was stated in the January 2008 Final Order, R. at 1131, and further explained by Mr. Vincent during the hearing, five of the abandoned wells are located in Township 9, Range 22; one is located in Township 10, Range 22; and one is located in Township 8, Range 25. Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1753, lns. 17-23. Both the 700- and 1,000-foot wells specifically referenced by A&B in its Opening Brief as "abandoned" are located in Township 9, Range 22. \*\*Depening Brief\* at 26. Using a red marker, Mr. Vincent circled the abandoned wells on Exhibit 215A.

The problems that A&B experiences today in the southwest have plagued it since the 1950s. Nevertheless, the USBR believed that lands in Township 9, particularly those in Range 22, were highly desirable for irrigation and "should therefore be irrigated if at all possible." Ex. 152BB at 1. Due to the inherent hydrogeologic environment, reclamation of lands in Township 9,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In his direct examination, Mr. Vincent, in referring to cross-section G-G' in Exhibit 106, stated that the same hydrogeologic problems that exist in Township 9. Range 22 are present in Township 10, Range 22. Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1775, lns. 7-13.

This is the only well identified by A&B that is not located in the southwest. "According to A&B records, the seventh abandoned well (15B825) was replaced because it had a crooked borehole." R. at 1131. A crooked borehole evidences a problem with the initial well drilling. Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1752, lns. 18-25; p. 1753, lns. 1-12.

As found by Dr. Ralston, "The 1,000-foot well . . . penetrates a 199-foot thick [sedimentary] interbed in the elevation range of 3,703 to 3,902 feet and a 55-foot interbed in the elevation range of 3,521 to 3,576 feet with several additional thin sedimentary units." Ex. 121 at 18 (A&B 1089). The 1,000-foot well is visually depicted in cross-section H-H', Ex. 106 (A&B 92). The 700-foot well and its multiple sedimentary interbeds is visually depicted in cross-section G-G', Ex. 106 (A&B 91). Both the 700- and 1,000-foot well are visually depicted in cross-section C-C', Ex. 106 (A&B 86). The cross-sections show clearly the layers of sediment that impact these wells.

Range 22 proved to become a "problem area." Ex. 152P. *See also* Exs. 152Q, 152II, and 152TT. When the A&B project was developed, water level elevations were at their peak. Clerk's R. at 51. As noted by the USBR on October 9, 1961, "The downward trend in pumping water levels is readily apparent and the absence of any tendency of ground water levels to stabilize is of considerable concern." Ex. 152BBB. Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1777, lns. 9-20. Using Exhibit 215A, Mr. Vincent circled the locations of the wells in the above-cited letters with a <u>silver</u> marker. Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1173; lns. 11-18.

At the hearing, Mr. Vincent explained that the reason the wells in the southwest were abandoned was because of the inherent hydrogeologic problems that exist in that area (presence of thick layers of sediment, greater initial depth to water, lower transmissivity, lower specific capacity, lower initial yield, and greater well interference). These are inherent problems that exist independent of ground water pumping. "Basically, everything that you want a well to do, is more difficult in the southwest area. . . . The greatest problem with the water supply system at A&B is, and has always been, A&B's inability to effectively deal with the sediment layers." Tr. Vol. IX, p. 1756. lns. 21-25; p. 1757, lns. 10-13.

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